FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
8/2/2021 3:57 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/3/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100045-6

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE:

DANIEL WATANABE
Appellant

V.

SOLVEIG WATANABE Respondent

NO. 366197-III

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

DAVID J. CROUSE Attorney for Appellant W. 422 Riverside, Suite 920 Spokane, WA. 99201 dcrouselaw@comcast.net (509) 624-1380 WSBA #22978

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Daniel Watanabe, the Appellant in the Court of Appeals matter, respectfully seeks review of said decision by the Supreme Court.

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Daniel Watanabe seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision in Daniel Y. Watanabe, Appellant, and Solveig H. Watanabe, Respondent, Court of Appeals No. 36619. As more defined in the *Issues Presented*, below, Daniel Watanabe seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision as to the application of *Estate of Borghi* to gift presumption established under *Marriage of Skarbek*, as well as to the Court of Appeals' determination regarding the trial court's use of extrinsic evidence.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Did the Court of Appeals expand this Court's ruling in *Estate of Borghi* beyond the scope intended by this Court, resulting in a de facto over-ruling of gift presumption established in *Marriage of Skarbek*, despite the fact that this case was not overturned by this Court in its *Estate of Borghi* ruling

(unlike *In re Marriage of Hurd* which was explicitly overruled), thereby substantially depriving Daniel Watanabe of his interest insubstantial real property?

II. Did the Court of Appeals err in approving the trial courts acceptance of extrinsic evidence to clarify an unambiguous quit claim deed by the wife to the marital community, and even if this was permissible, should it have had any factor in the adjudication of the real property interests given this Court's holdings in *Estate of Borghi* and given the gift presumption established in *Marriage of Skarbek?*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY CHARACTERIZING
ASSETS THAT WERE ACQUIRED DURING THE MARRIAGE TO BE
THE SEPARATE PROPERTY OF THE WIFE, TO INCLUDE AN
ERROR IN THE APPLICATION OF CASE LAW, IN PARTICULAR
ESTATE OF BORGHI AND MARRIAGE OF SKARBEK.

The parties married on January 2, 1999 after dating during college. CP 165-210. The parties were married 17 years, separating in July of 2016. CP 165-210. RP 180. After the unexpected death of the wife's mother, the parties moved to her mother's farm and began to take care of it to include its livestock (albeit the husband also remained employed full time). RP 186, line 5; RP 435, lines 18-21. This farm is referred to as the "Arlington

property". RP 436, line 2. After her death, the Wife's mother left her estate, which included this Arlington property, to Solveig Watanabe and her sister Olivia Gunn, each receiving a ½ interest. CP 141-164, page 2, RP 435 line 22 – RP436, line 4.

The parties later desired to move to Eastern Washington to facilitate both their lifestyle desires and to advance their horse operation known Olivia Farms. RP 188, line19 – RP 190, line 4. The parties located and decided to purchase the "Ford Property" in 2005, approximately 6 years after marriage. RP 188, line 16 – RP 189, line 25. The "Ford property" consisted of both the family home and adjacent acreage parcels. See CP 141-164, joint management report attached to memorandum opinion (behind page 17), first page of joint management report section 5.1.

The parties completed the purchase of the initial "Ford Property" in 2005 (on which the family home was built), with adjoining parcels of land being purchased in 2008. CP 141-164, page 2; RP 437, lines 18-21. See also statutory warranty deed in the name of both parties. Exhibit P-5. The "Ford Property" consisted of 157 acres that included the residence (to be built) and outbuildings, with an additional 228 acres consisting of six separate parcels. CP 141-164, page 2; Exhibit P-1. Critical to this petition for review, the "Ford Property", both as to the main residence and the adjacent parcels of land, was all purchased after marriage and titled in the

names of Daniel and Solveig Watanabe at all times. CP 141-164, page 3.

The first five parcels of the Ford property were purchased from the Erringtons for \$410,000 on May 26, 2005. CP 141-164, page 2. Exhibit P-2. This purchase occurred over six years *after* the parties' marriage. All purchase documents were in the names of both parties. Exhibit P-2. Exhibit P-4. The "Ford Property" remained titled in the names of the both parties at all times during marriage. Exhibit P-6. This was not disputed. CP 141-164, page 3, third full paragraph.

In conjunction with payment of the earnest money, to purchase the "Ford Property" the parties applied for and were approved for a loan with Cascadia Mortgage (which later became Flagstar Mortgage). RP 191, lines 6-11; Exhibit P-3; CP141-164, page 2. The loan was taken out in the name of the husband because he had good credit and the wife had no credit at that time. RP 191, lines 12-23. Exhibit P-3. The down payment was paid from the parties' joint checking account. RP 192, lines 2-16. The parties had been able to save money because of their minimal living expenses. RP 192, line 17 – RP 193, line 6. As with the purchase of the properties, this loan was taken about 6 years after marriage.

After the May 26, 2005 closing on Ford Property, the parties made mortgage payments of \$2,877.00 per month for 18 months from their community/joint checking account. CP 141-164, page 2; RP 193, line 7-

RP194, line 1; Exhibit P-3.

The Flagstar loan for the "Ford Property", taken in the husband's name was secured by two deed of trusts on the Arlington property. CP 141-164, page 2. Prior to the purchase of the "Ford Property", the wife executed a quit claim deed to the husband making him joint owner of the "Arlington Property". Exhibit R-155, which shows the "Arlington Property" sale settlement statement with both Daniel and Solveig Watanabe as sellers and which contains the quit claim deed signed by Solveig Watanabe on May 25, 2005 to "Daniel Y. Watnabe and Solveig H. Watanabe, husband and wife". The reason for this quit claim deed is expressly stated on page 1 of this document: "To Establish Community Property". Exhibit R-155, Quit Claim Deed, page 4 of Exhibit.

During the marriage, in 2015, the parties purchased three contiguous parcels totaling 160.36 acres known as the "Clayton Property". Exhibit P8; Exhibit P-9; CP 141-164, page 6; RP 270 lines 7-12. The "Clayton Property was titled in the names of both parties and all closing documents were in the names of both parties. Exhibit P-8; Exhibit P-9; Exhibit P-10. Exhibit P-11. RP 276, line 16. The parties purchased the Clayton property for it hay production capabilities. RP 270, lines 13-20. Importantly, the Clayton property had no relation to the Ford Property, nor did it have any relation to the Arlington properties inherited by Ms. Solveig

and transferred to the community via quit claim deed as discussed above. (Emphasis added.)

The law favors characterization of property as community property unless there is no question of its separate character. Marriage of Brewer, 137 Wn.2d 756, 766-67 (1999). The Court of Appeals appropriately concluded that the Ford Property was presumed to by community. See Decision, page 10. No holding was made on the Clayton property, which appears overlooked and is error as discussed below.

The party asserting a characterization must present "clear and compelling" evidence to overcome that presumption. <u>In re: Marriage of Marzetta</u>, 129 Wn.App. 607, 620 (2005). See also <u>In re Marriage of Skarbek</u>, 100 Wn. App. 444, 448 (2000). The characterization of property is determined at the date it is acquired. <u>Estate of Borghi</u>, 167 Wn.2d 480, 484 (2009). We know that given the holding in <u>Estate of Borghi</u>, both the Ford Property and the Clayton Property were presumed under the law to be community.

We respectfully assert that the Court of Appeals has extended this Court's holding Estate of Borghi, 167 Wn.2d 480, 484 (2009) beyond what was intended by this Court. Additionally, we respectfully assert that the Court of Appeals has *de facto* overruled the holding in In re Marriage of Skarbek, 100 Wn. App. 444, 448 (2000). This is especially true as the

Clayton Property where no inherited properties were being utilized and which was essentially overlooked by the Court of Appeals.

There is a very distinct difference and a very critical difference, between the facts in <u>Borghi</u> and the facts of this instant case. In <u>Borghi</u>, the wife owned real property before marriage. After marriage, the deed to the property was transferred into the names of both spouses without adequate explanation. This Court affirmed the appellate court who had reversed the trial court's determination that this transfer of title created the presumption of a gift to the community. The entire holding can be summed up as follows: "We take this opportunity to clarify the applicable community property principles and disapprove of any reading of *Hurd* or *Olivares* that suggests a gift presumption arising when title to property is *changed* from the name of a single spouse to both spouses." <u>Marriage of Borghi</u> 167 Wn.2d 480, 486 (2009). (My emphasis added as to *changed*.)

Very importantly, <u>Borghi</u> did not overrule the gift presumption for property acquired *after* marriage and titled in both spouse's names. <u>Hurd</u> was only partially overruled as cited above. Thus, cases such as <u>Skarbek</u> in particular, and <u>Hurd</u>, continue to be cited as controlling authority. See for example, <u>Lee v. Lee</u>, No. 74405-4-1 (Unpublished Division 1 2017).

As noted, a critical difference exists in this case: <u>Borghi</u> focused exclusively on property that was acquired *prior* to marriage, and the <u>Borghi</u>

held that property retains its characterization once established unless evidence to the contrary is established. In the Watanabe dissolution, all property at issue was acquired *after* marriage. All property was originally titled in both names. <u>Borghi</u> has literally no application to this case except to state that property retains its characterization once established. Instead, this is a case that should turn on the gift presumption holdings of <u>Skarbek</u> and its progeny.

The Skarbek court ruled that the gift presumption applied to actual tangible property which was further defined to include land, which was exactly what was purchased here with both the "Ford Property" and the "Clayton Property". Marriage of Skarbek, 100 Wn. App. 444, 450 (Div. 3, Under Skarbek, these are wholly community properties. 2000). rebuttable presumption arises that property acquired during marriage with separate funds is a gift to the community when it is titled in the names of the spouses with the Hurd court expressly holding: "However, a spouse's use of his or her separate funds to purchase property in the name of the other spouse, absent any other explanation, permits the presumption that the In re Marriage of Hurd, 69 Wn.App. transaction was intended as a gift." 38, 51 (1993). Accord, Marriage of Pearson-Maines, 70 Wn.App. 860, 868 (1993). This issue was further addressed in Marriage of Skarbek, 100 Wn.App. 444, 450 (2000).

PETITIONER'S BRIEF - 11

In <u>Skarbek</u>, the husband added the wife's name to his bank account which contained separate funds. The wife claimed this to be a presumed gift to the community. Division III rejected this contention, stating that bank accounts and money do not have the same presumption as opposed to the purchase *of actual tangible property*. (Emphasis added.) The <u>Skarbek</u> court expressly stated "If Mr. Skarbek had spent his money on an unrelated asset and put that asset in Ms. Skarbek's name, the rebuttable presumption would have attached. Only then would he have the burden of rebutting this presumption by providing an explanation for the transfer sufficient to convince the court that the true intention of the parties was to keep the property separate." <u>Id.</u>

Skarbek leaves no ambiguities. It states, "The Skarbeks are fighting over money, not bank accounts. The transaction here is not the same as buying stocks or bonds or land. They did not buy a "bank" account." Id. Thus, Skarbek made clear that if it is merely a situation where separate monies have been transferred to a jointly titled bank or investment account, the monies can be traced to the separate source and remain separate property. However, if the separate funds were used to purchase tangible assets (which includes real property by the Skarbek Court's definition) in the names of both parties, then the gift presumption applies. (Emphasis added.)

In the instant case, there is no factual dispute whatsoever as to what occurred. The parties purchased the "Ford Property" during marriage. A presumption of community property arises. The first purchase occurred in 2005 over six years after the date of marriage. The second purchase of Ford Property adjoining parcels occurred in 2008. The purchase of the Clayton Property occurred in 2015, approximately 16 years after marriage.

These are not the only significant differences in the facts of the instant case as opposed to those resulting in the <u>Borghi</u> decision. In Borghi, the issue to be decided involved the change in title from the wife (before marriage) to the wife and husband (after marriage). Here, the "Ford Property" was titled in the name of both parties at the outset and remained titled in the names of the both parties at all times during marriage. The "Clayton Property was titled in the names of both parties and all closing documents were in the names of both parties. Again, there is no issue of changing the names on title as occurred in <u>Borghi</u>. As cited above, it was the change of title, and the application of gift presumption to such change, that was the issue for the Borghi court.

Thus, what has occurred in the instant ruling is that the Court of Appeals has dramatically extended the holdings of this Court in <u>Borghi</u>. Instead of being limited to a change in title from presumed separate property owned before marriage, it has now been extended to property acquired during

marriage and title in both spouse's names. The Petitioner submits that this was not the intent of this Court.

Assuming arguendo that the Arlington properties were the separate property of Solveig Watanabe and that she adequately explained her rationale for signing a deed "to create community property", this does not have any effect on the law of gift presumption that results from purchasing the Ford Property during marriage in the names of both spouses.

Even more critical to this Court's decision as to whether to accept review, and completely aside from the issue of the Ford Property, the Arlington properties at issue have absolutely no connection to the Clayton property purchase din 2015. The Clayton Property was purchased during marriage in the names of both parties. The issue of gift presumption as articulated in Marriage of Skarbek, 100 Wn.App. 444, 450 (2000) would have to apply to the Clayton Property unless Borghi is being extended to properties purchased after marriage, in the names of both parties, where no transfer of real property owned prior to marriage has occurred (unlike the Arlington properties being sold and paid toward the Ford Property). Again, the Petitioner respectfully submits that this was not intended by this Court in Borghi, and this was either overlooked by the Court of Appeals or that the law was not appropriately applied.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN ALLOWING PAROL EVIDENCE TO CLARIFY AN UNAMBIGUOUS QUIT CLAIM DEED BY THE WIFE TO THE MARITAL COMMUNITY, WHERE WASHINGTON FOLLOWS THE OBJECTIVE MANIFESTATION THEORY, WHICH REQUIRES A COURT TO RELY ON THE WRITTEN WORDS.

This issue, for purposes of asking this Court to accept review, is indeed a secondary issue. The rules of contract interpretation apply to interpretation of a deed. Pelly v. Panayuk, 2 Wn. App. 2d 848, 864 (2018). Washington follows the objective manifestation theory of contract interpretation. Hearst Comm., Inc. v. Seattle Times, Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, 503, 115 P.3d 262, 267 (2005). This theory of interpretation requires a court to determine the intent of the parties by focusing on the "objective manifestation of the agreement, rather than on the unexpressed subjective intent of the parties." Id.

If the intent of the parties cannot be ascertained through the objective manifestation of intent, the court must apply the "context rule." Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wn.2d 657, 667 (1990). The context rule allows courts to consider extrinsic evidence to determine the intent of the parties. Hollis v. Garwall, Inc, 137 Wn.2d 683, 695 (1999). "If the plain language [of a deed] is unambiguous, extrinsic evidence will not be considered." Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. V. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880 (2003).

Extrinsic evidence is meant to "illuminate what was written, not

what was intended to be written." Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Watson, 100 Wn.2d 178, 189 (1992). The admissible extrinsic evidence may not include: "1. Evidence of a party's unilateral or subjective intent as to the meaning of a contract word or term; 2. Evidence that would show an intention independent of the instrument; or 3. evidence that would vary, contradict, or modify the written word." Hollis at 697.

In the seminal case of <u>Hollis v. Garwall</u>, this Court clarified the context rule and expressly recognized its application to written documents involving real property. 137 Wn.2d at 695-96. This Court found that the terms in the restrictive covenant itself were not ambiguous and that Garwall did not show more than one reasonable interpretation of the language. <u>Id.</u> at 698. Because the covenant was not ambiguous, the plain language of the covenant controlled and no extrinsic evidence could be considered.

Similarly in Watanabe, the quit claim deed is unambiguous. Ms. Watanabe conveyed the Western Washington property to herself and Mr. Watanabe for the purpose of creating community property. The deed specifically demonstrates the intent to gift the property to the community. The objective intent theory bars testimony and other extrinsic evidence meant to demonstrate an intent contradictory to the unambiguous deed. Even if this Court found that in some way the deed was ambiguous, applying the context rule would not change the outcome. The only

extrinsic evidence that could change the designation of community property would be contradictory to the facial language of the deed. The context rule bars the admission of contradictory evidence.

Critically, even if this Court were to concur with the Court of Appeals on this issue, it would not impact the extension of <u>Borghi</u> and the *de facto* overruling of <u>Skarbek</u> and its progeny. The issue of interpretation of the quit claim deed only impacts the Arlington Properties and thus only impacts the Ford Property (which was its derivative). It has absolutely no impact whatsoever on the Clayton Property. Purchased during marriage in the names of both parties to which the gift presumption should have bene applied unless this Court dramatically extends its ruling in <u>Borghi</u>.

ARGUMENT

For the reasons as more fully set forth in the Issues presented, above, this Court is asked to accept review as the ruling of the Court of Appeals has improperly extended, and is in conflict with, this Court's ruling in Estate of Borghi, 167 Wn.2d 480, 484 (2009). The instant holding by the Court of Appeals is also in conflict with the gift presumption rule as set forth in the published decisions In re Marriage of Hurd, 69 Wn.App. 38, 51 (1993) (overruled on other grounds); Marriage of Pearson-Maines, 70 Wn.App. 860, 868 (1993) and Marriage of Skarbek, 100 Wn.App. 444, 450 (2000). For these reasons, particularly as to its effect on real property acquired in

the names of both spouses after marriage, this Petition also involves an issue of substantial public interest.

CONCLUSION

The pertinent facts of this case have never been in dispute. Both the "Ford Property" and the "Clayton Property" were purchased during marriage. Both properties were titled in the joint names of the parties. All purchase documents were in the joint names of the parties. Community credit was used to purchase the "Ford Property". "Ford Property" mortgage payments were made from community accounts. The "Clayton Property" was purchased from a community account without any possibility of separate inherited real property being involved in its acquisition.

Because these properties were purchased after marriage, the Petitioner respectfully submits that <u>Borghi</u> was not intended to have any application, particularly as to the Clayton property. This case, particularly the Clayton Property, is controlled by the established doctrine of gift presumption, never overruled by this Court. This Court is asked to accept review of this Petition.