FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/1/2021 4:51 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1000456 Court of Appeals, Division III No. 366197

THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

DANIEL WATANABE,

Petitioner,

VS.

SOLVEIG WATANABE, n/k/a SOLVEIG HERBJORG PEDERSEN,

Respondent.

.....

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Martin L. Salina WSBA #6905 Michael R. Grover WSBA #44270 Randall | Danskin 601 W. Riverside, Ste. 1500 Spokane, WA 99201-0653 (509) 747-2052 George M. Ahrend WSBA #25160 David C. Whisenand WSBA #55213 Ahrend Law Firm PLLC P.O. Box 816 457 1st Ave. NW Ephrata, WA 98823-0816 (509) 764-9000

Co-Attorneys for Respondent

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

VI. ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO REVIEW

A. Overview of separate property and the proof required to establish a change in character of separate property.

Separate property refers to property and pecuniary rights owned by each spouse before marriage or acquired afterwards by gift, bequest, devise, descent or inheritance. Brewer v. Brewer, 137 Wn.2d 756, 766, 976 P.2d 102, 109 (1999); RCW 26.16.010. "[T]he right of the spouses in their separate property is as sacred as is the right in their community property[.]" In re Estate of Borghi, 167 Wn.2d 480, 484, 219 P.3d 932, 935 (2009), as corrected (Mar. 3, 2010) (quoting Guye v. Guye, 63 Wash. 340, 352, 115 P. 731 (1911); brackets added). As a result, separate property is presumed to remain separate property. Borghi, 167 Wn.2d at 484. It "continues to be separate property through all of its changes and transitions so long as it can be clearly traced and identified, and its rents, issues, and profits likewise are and

continue to be separate property." *Witte's Estate*, 21 Wn.2d 112, 125, 150 P.2d 595, 601 (1944); *In re Marriage of Skarbek*, 100 Wn. App. 444, 447, 997 P.2d 447, 450 (2000) (citing *Witte* for this proposition). "Where property is acquired during marriage, the test of its separate or community character is whether it was acquired by community funds and community credit, or separate funds and the issues and profits thereof[.]" *Binge's Estate*, 5 Wn.2d 446, 484, 105 P.2d 689, 705 (1940) (brackets added).

The burden is placed on the party challenging the characterization of separate property to prove that the spouse owning the separate property intends to "transmute" the property from separate to community property. *In re Estate of Borghi*, 167 Wn.2d 480, 484-85, 219 P.3d 932, (2009). The quantum of proof required to satisfy this burden is clear and convincing evidence. *Id.* at 485 n.4. This means there must be sufficient proof of intent to change the character of the property to be "highly probable." *Marriage of Schweitzer*, 132 Wn.2d 318, 329, 937 P.2d 1062,

1067 (1997). The name on the title of the relevant property is insufficient to satisfy this burden, as explained below.

B. There is no conflict with this Court's decision *Borghi* because the Court of Appeals interpreted and applied the decision correctly to the unchallenged facts of this case.

Watanabe first suggests that the Court of Appeals improperly "extended" the ruling in *Borghi*. Pet Rev., at 4-5.³ To support this theory, Watanabe tries to distinguish property acquired before marriage (and later jointly titled) from property acquired after marriage (and jointly titled at the time of acquisition). Petition, at 10-11. The Court of Appeals disagreed and interpreted *Borghi* in light of its expressed rationale.

The *Borghi* court's disapproval of the joint title gift presumption did not rest on whether the property was acquired before or after marriage. The court instead

³ The lead opinion and the concurrence in *Borghi*, representing a 5-Justice majority of the Court, agreed regarding all the matters at issue in this case. 167 Wn.2d at 483-91 (Stephens, J., lead op.); *id.* at 491-92 (Madsen, J., concurring). The concurrence merely declined to join the portion of the lead opinion stating that "an acknowledged writing is generally required" to overcome the separate property presumption on grounds that it was not necessary to reach that issue. *Id.* at 485 & 492.

discussed the inherent problems with relying on title alone to determine intent.

Watanabe at *5. This was correct. "We have consistently refused to recognize any presumption arising from placing legal title in both spouses' names and instead adhered to the principle that the name on a deed or title does not determine the separate or community character of the property, or even provide much evidence." Borghi, 167 Wn.2d at 488; Watanabe at *5 (quoting Borghi for this proposition). The Court in Borghi rejected the joint title gift presumption in broad terms, calling it "erroneous" and "expressly reject[ing]" it. Borghi, 167 Wn.2d at 482 (brackets added). The Court found that the joint title gift presumption is "at odds with well-established principles of community property law" that look beyond title to ascertain the true intent and purpose of the parties. *Id.* at 487-88. This presumption elevates form over substance and ignores the good business reasons "to create joint title that have nothing to do with any intent to create community property." Id. at 489. It also creates an irreconcilable conflict with the presumption that separate property remains separate property:

to apply a presumption based on a change in the name or names in which title is held would create a situation in which a court is asked to resolve an evidentiary question based on nothing more than conflicting presumptions Applying these presumptions simultaneously, the court reaches an impasse. If we somehow reason that the community property presumption must prevail because it is later in time, then what became of the rule that clear and convincing evidence of actual intent is needed to overcome the original separate property presumption? In sum, applying a gift presumption to counter the separate property presumption in these circumstances would reduce community property principles to a game of King's X. We refuse to do so and instead adhere to the wellsettled rule that no presumption arises from the names on a deed or title.

Id. at 489-90 (ellipses & emphasis added; citation omitted). The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with *Borghi* and thus RAP 13.4(b)(1) does not apply.

C. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Skarbek*, which has been superseded by *Borghi*.

After attempting to distinguish *Borghi*, Watanabe then relies on *In re Marriage of Skarbek*, 100 Wn.App. 444, 997 P.2d 447 (2000). Petition, at 4-5. *Skarbek* predates *Borghi* and recognized

the joint title gift presumption. Skarbek, 100 Wn.App. at 450 ("A rebuttable presumption arises that property acquired with separate funds during the marriage is presumed to be a gift to the community"; citing *In re Marriage of Hurd*, 69 Wn.App. 38, 51, 848 P.2d 185 (1993), rev. denied, 122 Wn.2d 1020 (1993) and In re Marriage of Pearson-Maines, 70 Wn.App. 860, 868, 855 P.2d 1210, 1215 (1993)). However, *Borghi* expressly rejected the joint title gift presumption. The same proposition from Hurd that Skarbek cites was directly quoted and described as "at odds with well-established principles of community property law." *Borghi*, 167 Wn.2d at 487. The Court of Appeals in this case correctly concluded that "Borghi disapproves of the joint title gift presumption discussed therein." Watanabe at *5 (referring to Skarbek).

The Court of Appeals also found Watanabe's citation unconvincing because *Skarbek* held that the presumption was inapplicable and offered a counterfactual "*[i]f* Mr. Skarbek had spent his money on an unrelated asset and put that asset in Ms.

Skarbek's name, the rebuttable presumption *would have* attached." *Skarbek*, 100 Wn.App. at 450 (emphasis & brackets added); *see Watanabe* at *5. Because *Skarbek* found the presumption inapplicable, the holding here does not directly contradict it. Because the joint title gift presumption was found inapplicable and the discussion of it in *Skarbek* has already been impliedly disapproved by this Court, there is no conflict and RAP 13.4(b)(2) is inapplicable.

Watanabe offers two other cases as potential sources of conflict to justify review. Petition at 17 (citing *Hurd* and *Pearson-Maines*). The conflict with *Hurd* is irrelevant because *Hurd* was already expressly disapproved in *Borghi*. 167 Wn.2d at 487. Watanabe quotes *Hurd* for the proposition that "[h]owever, a spouse's use of his or her separate funds to purchase property in the name of the other spouse, absent any other explanation, permits the presumption that the transaction was intended as a gift." Petition, at 11 (quoting *Hurd*, 69 Wn.App. at 51; brackets added). This statement is inapplicable

to this case because it is referring to purchases *solely* in the name of the other spouse. *Hurd*, 69 Wn.App. at 51 (citing *Scott v. Currie*, 7 Wash.2d 301, 308–09, 109 P.2d 526 (1941)). The *Hurd* court then used this to justify its conclusion that "a spouse's use of his or her separate funds to purchase property in the names of both spouses, absent any other explanation, permits a presumption that the purchase or transaction was intended as a gift to the community." *Id.* But this language is expressly disapproved in *Borghi*. 167 Wn.2d at 487.⁴ Watanabe's attempt to evade the disapproved language does not show a conflict justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

_

⁴ Watanabe claims than an unpublished decision has continued to cite *Hurd* as controlling. Petition, at 10 (citing *Marriage of Lee*, *noted at* 198 Wn. App. 1069, 2017 WL 2171975, at *4 (Div. 1, May 8, 2017)). However, *Lee* does not cite *Hurd* for the joint title gift presumption. *Lee*, 2017 WL 2171975, at *4. Cases citing *Hurd* after *Borghi* was decided have noted that the joint title gift presumption has been disapproved. *E.g.*, *Marriage of Shapiro*, *noted at* 175 Wn. App. 1007, 2013 WL 2382281, at *6-7 (Div. 3, May 30, 2013).

Watanabe's second citation is to *Pearson-Maines*. Petition, at 17. *Pearson-Maines* also predates *Borghi* and offers a counterfactual analysis similar to *Skarbek*: "[w]e note that a different result would occur *if* the Lake Ki proceeds had been used to purchase some asset unrelated to Ms. Pearson–Maines' separate property." 70 Wn.App. at 868 (brackets & emphasis added). The decision never directly refers to "title" at all, let alone a "joint title gift presumption". The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with *Pearson-Maines*, or alternatively it has been impliedly disapproved by *Borghi* – either way, review is not justified on this basis either under RAP 13.4(b)(2).⁵

_

⁵ Watanabe asserts in passing that the Court of Appeals' holding involves an issue of substantial public interest "as to its effect on real property acquired in the names of both spouses after marriage[.]" Petition, at 17-18 (brackets added). This decision applying settled law does not involve "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4); *cf. State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903, 904 (2005) (finding a case to be a "prime example of an issue of substantial public interest" when the Court of Appeals reasoning invited "unnecessary litigation" and created "confusion generally").

D. Watanabe admits that his extrinsic evidence argument does not independently justify review, he fails to address the Court of Appeals holding, and the Court of Appeals correctly found his argument misapplies to this case.

Watanabe admits that his extrinsic evidence argument is "secondary". Petition, at 15. He does not attempt to provide reasons justifying review under RAP 13.4(b) on this issue, nor does he explain why it should be accepted secondarily. Watanabe fails to address the Court of Appeals holding that he did not preserve his argument. *See Watanabe* at *7. Watanabe does not address the reasons for the holding on extrinsic evidence either. *Id.* As explained by the Court of Appeals, Watanabe's argument misapplies the law.

Watanabe fundamentally misses the point because the evidence is not offered to interpret the deed, but rather the deed is one piece of evidence relating to the question of whether a gift of separate property to the community was intended:

Allowing a presumption to arise from a change in the form of title inappropriately shifts attention away from the relevant question of whether a gift of separate property to the community is intended and asks instead the irrelevant question of whether there was an intent to make a conveyance into joint title.

Borghi, 167 Wn.2d at 489. The distinction between intent to form joint title and the intent to make a gift of separate property explains why courts are not bound by the terms of deeds:

The instances in which we have held that property purchased from the separate funds of one of the spouses and title taken in the name of the spouse furnishing the funds is the separate property of that spouse, and the instances in which we have held that property purchased with community funds is the property of the community, notwithstanding the title may have been taken in the name of one of the spouses, are too numerous to admit of citation here.

Merritt v. Newkirk, 155 Wash. 517, 520–21, 285 P. 442, 444 (1930) (brackets added); accord Deschamps' Estate, 77 Wash. 514, 518, 137 P. 1009, 1011 (1914) (stating "courts will not be bound by the terms of the deed but will look beyond it and ascertain, if possible, the true intent and purpose of the parties and considering the whole record"). Borghi, Deschamps, and Merritt all make it clear that the terms of a deed do not control the question of whether the property is community or separate.

The parol evidence rule does not apply in this context. None of the cases cited by Watanabe involve alleged gifts, let alone gifts of separate property to a marital community. Even before the erroneous joint title gift presumption was disapproved in Borghi, it was recognized that a gift presumption could be rebutted by parol evidence. Scott, 7 Wn.2d at 308 ("This presumption of a gift is, however, rebuttable. It rests only on the probable intention of the husband, and may be rebutted by matter contained in the deed, or by parol evidence which establishes a contemporaneous intent of the husband to make his wife only a trustee of the property"; emphasis added); see also Watanabe at *7 (citing *Scott* for this proposition). Watanabe's extrinsic evidence argument does not merit review on its own or in conjunction with the primary issue in his petition under RAP 13.4(b).

VII. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny Watanabe's Petition for Review.

This document complies with RAP 18.17, and the number of words contained in the document, exclusive of words contained in the appendices, the title sheet, the table of contents, the table of authorities, the certificate of compliance, the certificate of service, signature blocks, and pictorial images (e.g., photographs, maps, diagrams, and exhibits) total 4,993.